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Message from the Mayor  

2020 will be a year that will be historical for all of us 

throughout the world. To manage through a pandemic 

that had such significant potential health concerns for so 

many was a time that few of us will ever want to duplicate. 

At the time of writing this report, we are all in the 

beginning stages of the vaccine rollout which has been the 

case for so many viruses in the history of the world, and 

will hopefully allow the world population to begin to return 

to a place of public gatherings and events without the fear 

or concern of the COVID-19 virus.  

The COVID-19 year for the City of Dawson Creek was 

initially felt in late March of 2020, where the first Public 

Health Order required us to close down our Memorial 

Arena. The City managed our way through the shut down 

and the impact to the economy of our community with the 

closures of barbers, hair salons, restaurants and gyms. It 

was a trying time for so many and the worries existed for 

all of us. We transitioned through the first phase without 

any confirmed cases in our community, and we gradually 

began to re-open facilities and businesses.  

The second wave through the fall of 2020 had a much different impact as we at the City began to 

re-open our recreational facilities.  Our staff did an amazing job of ensuring we adhered to the public 

health protocols while getting the City recreational facilities open to the public. The much stricter 

protocols on occupancy increased the operating costs and reduced revenues through fees and 

charges. City Council took a very proactive approach in attempting to get the City facilities opened 

to the public.  

In 2020, City Council continued to maintain a very strict focus on ensuring the Peace River 

Agreement funding from the Province was allocated towards a sound capital infrastructure 

program. It also ensures we have a sound financial future for our City.  

 

 

Mayor Dale Bumstead 
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2020 saw a significant paving program completed with the rebuild and paving of 15th Street, which 

is a major connecting roadway within the city. Council was also very focused on the city flood 

mitigation work by doing all we can to mitigate the risk of property damage to our residents and 

city along the creek.  

We continue to focus on our Event and Sport Tourism strategy and are excited about the potential 

to host a Hockey Canada event in 2021 at the Ovintiv Events Centre. 

Dale Bumstead 
Mayor 

 
 
  

Photo by Kevin MacLellan 



 
 

2020 Annual Report  

 

5 

Mayor and Council 

Mayor and Council were elected in the 2018 Local Government 

Election for a 4-year term to provide leadership and establish 

policies and priorities for the community, with the exception of 

Councillor Dober, who was elected in the 2020 By-election. 

Council meets two times per month except for July, August and 

September when they meet only once per month.  The second 

meeting of every month includes a scheduled Committee of the 

Whole meeting where General Managers and Department Heads 

share department highlights with Council and the public.  All 

regular meetings are held on a Monday starting at 9:00 am in 

Council Chambers at City Hall. 

 

Front: Councillor Paul Gevatkoff, Councillor Shaely Wilbur, 

                 Mayor Dale Bumstead, Councillor Amy Kaempf    

Back:  Councillor Darcy Dober, Councillor Jerimy Earl 

 Councillor Charlie Parlsow   

Did You Know? 

Council has seven types of meetings 

that the Mayor chairs: 

Regular Council 

Regular Council with 

Committee of the Whole 

Closed Council 

Public Hearings 

Public Consultations 

Budget Meetings 

Special Meetings 
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2020 Council Meeting Schedule 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January  13 Regular Meeting 

  27 Regular Meeting* 

  27 Budget Meeting 

February 10 Regular Meeting 

  14 Special Meeting 

  24 Regular Meeting* 

March  9 Regular Meeting 

  17 Special Meeting 

  23 Regular Meeting* 

  30 Special Meeting 

April  6 Regular Meeting 

  9 Special Meeting 

  14 Special Meeting 

  24 Special Meeting 

  27 Regular Meeting* 

May  4 Special Meeting 

  11 Regular Meeting 

  25 Regular Meeting* 

June  8 Regular Meeting 

  22 Annual General Meeting 

 

June  23 Special Meeting 

July  20 Public Hearing & 

   Regular Meeting 

  27 Special Meeting 

  30 Special Meeting 

August  17 Public Hearing &

   Regular Meeting 

September 14 Regular Meeting 

October 5 Public Consultation, 

   Public Hearing & 

   Regular Meeting 

26 Regular Meeting* 

November 9 Inaugural Meeting & 

Regular Meeting 

  23 Regular Meeting* 

December 4 Special Meeting 

  14 Public Consultation & 

   Regular Meeting 
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Message from the Chief Administrative Officer 

The Chief Administrative Officer for the City of Dawson Creek serves Council directly and acts as the 

primary liaison between staff, the Mayor’s Office and City Council. The City of Dawson Creek Annual 

Report contains a summary of the departmental highlights which have taken place during 2020. While we 

continue to provide core services to our citizens, the management team and staff continue to undertake 

a number of initiatives and services identified in Council’s Strategic Priorities.   

I continue to work closely with Mayor and Council along with our 

senior staff team to ensure the utilization of the revenue we receive 

from the Peace River Agreement (PRA - formally known as the Fair 

Share Agreement) is shifted into the City’s capital budget. Over 

many years a considerable amount of this revenue was utilized in 

the operations budget which left less and less revenue available for 

capital projects. The primary intended use of PRA funds has always 

been to focus this revenue on capital expenditures and the new 

financial direction established by Mayor and Council will ensure this 

objective is met. To achieve this, Council has set a goal of ensuring 

70% of the PRA revenue received is utilized within the capital budget 

and the remaining 30% will be used in the operating budget. It is the 

goal of Mayor and Council to see this transition take place over the 

next 9 years as it will mean a shift of millions of dollars from the 

operating budget back to the capital budget. By taking this approach 

over a number of years it is hoped that the City can accomplish this through not only cost cutting measures 

within the operating budget but also by bringing on new revenue streams which will help achieve this 

financial realignment. Mayor and Council continue to work with their colleagues in Area D and Area E 

along with the Village of Pouce Coupe to identify opportunities for increased Sub Regional Recreation and 

Cultural Services funding and it would appear that a solution is very close to be concluded. We continue 

to explore new tourism opportunities with regard to funding alternatives and operational efficiencies as 

well as investigating the possible opportunities around developing a Regional Airport Authority model 

similar to how other airports in our province operate. A strong financial future is what will ensure our city 

continues to enjoy the many amazing services we now have. There are times when Mayor and Council 

must make very difficult choices on behalf of the people they represent but those decisions are made 

based on the fundamental principle of ensuring the strength of the City’s financial future. 

 I am honoured to serve as the Chief Administrative Officer for the City of Dawson Creek and I am confident 

that as we reflect on the past year, and what a year it has been, we will look towards 2021 with a sense 

of optimism and excitement for what lies ahead. 

 Blair Lekstrom 

 Chief Administrative Officer 

7 

CAO Blair Lekstrom 
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Strategic Priorities 

It is the intent of the City of Dawson Creek Council to continue moving towards new models of funding 

within the 2021 Budget, which will assist the City in creating a strong financial future. Bringing forward 

strategic priorities from 2020, the City of Dawson Creek Council will continue working towards a well-

balanced budget, while considering new opportunities for funding and efficiencies.  

In an effort to continue striving to meet the goal outlined above, Council has identified the following four 

key priorities for additional staff research and Council consideration as part of the 2021 budget: 

Carry Forward Strategic Priorities from 2020 

1. Peace River Agreement (PRA) 

 Work towards the goal of moving the Peace River Agreement (PRA) funding from its 

current use in the Operations of the City of Dawson Creek back into the Capital program. As 

Council moves forward, it is the aspiration that a minimum of 70% of the PRA revenue received 

be used for Capital investment, with the remaining portion used for Operations, including debt 

servicing. The goal is to achieve this by 2030. 

2. Sub-Regional Recreation and Cultural Services Funding 

 Work with the Peace River Regional District to identify opportunities for increased Sub-Regional 

Recreation and Cultural Services Funding through a new conversion bylaw. The goal is to complete 

this work in 2021 and have it in place for the 2022 budget year. 

3. Tourism 

 Explore opportunities for a new tourism funding and delivery model. 

 

New Strategic Priorities for 2021 

4. Regional Airport Authority 

 Explore possibilities of changing existing operations into a regional-based model. 
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Vision, Mission & Guiding Principles 

Community Vision Statement 

Dawson Creek will be a visionary community that works together for innovative social, cultural,  

economic and environmental vitality. 

Corporate Mission Statement 

The Corporate Mission of the City of Dawson Creek is to provide excellence in service and leadership that 

promotes a dynamic community within a healthy environment for all generations. 

Guiding Principles 
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Quick Facts 

Population  

Dawson Creek is home to 12,178 people (2016 census), which is an increase of 1.03% over 2011 census 

numbers. 

Climate 

The Peace Lowland ecoregion is 
characterized by a unique climate, 
marked by warmer summers than the 
surrounding areas. The mean annual 
temperature is 0.5°C. The mean summer 
temperature is 15°C and the mean 
winter temperature is -14°C. The mean 
annual precipitation ranges from  
350–600 mm. 
 

Transportation 

Airport 
Just seven minutes from downtown, Dawson Creek's airport 
facilities keep the City and surrounding area connected to the 
world.  

WestJet announced on February 7, 2020, that they will provide 
Dawson Creek with a direct daily non-stop service to Calgary 
starting sometime in 2021, provided more COVID-19 pandemic 
restrictions are lifted.  

The comfortable, up-to-date terminal provides secure and easy 
access for arriving and departing aircraft. It features free Wi-Fi, 
free parking, no improvement or user fees, and a cafe. 

Dawson Creek Regional Airport offers a 5,000 foot runway, flight 
planning, competitive fuel rates, under wing camping, hangar 
and a modern fully operational pilots' lounge without charging 
General Aviation Fees. 

Bailey Helicopters, Medivac Services, Civil Air Search and Rescue 
Association, freight services, and corporate aircraft also make 
use of the Dawson Creek Regional Airport. In addition, the 
Dawson Creek Flying Club offers flight training for the 
adventurous at heart.  
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Highways 

Dawson Creek is centrally located in the Peace Region and is served by several highways, most of which 

meet at the traffic circle at Mile Zero of the Alaska Highway. The iconic metal surveyor statue points west 

down the Alaska Highway (97 North) that leads north to Fort St John, Fort Nelson, and Watson Lake. 

Highway 49 travels east to Spirit River and Fahler, Alberta. Highway 97 South (John Hart Highway) travels 

west to Chetwynd and then south to Prince George. Highway 2 travels southeast to the Alberta border 

where it connects to Highway 43 to Grande Prairie, AB. The Heritage Highway 52 joins Tumbler Ridge to 

Highway 97 South, west of Dawson Creek. 

Road Transportation  

The City of Dawson Creek operates a municipal transit service through BC Transit. The “drop-floor” 

buses provide easy access for seniors and the physically disabled. 

 

Railways  

Dawson Creek is connected by CN Rail to Fort Nelson and to the ports of Prince Rupert and Vancouver for 

freight service.  
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Municipal Services & Operations 

The City’s direction is guided by the Dawson Creek Official Community Plan (OCP) adopted in April 2018, 

which is a statement of objectives and policies to guide decisions on planning and land use management 

within the area covered by the plan.  While the OCP sets the vision for the Community, it is the Financial 

Plan that establishes annual priorities.  The first draft of the new OCP Bylaw No. 4373, was created with 

the comments and feedback that the community provided. 

The City provides a wide range of municipal services to local residents and businesses, including fire 

protection/suppression, emergency management, policing, building inspection, bylaw compliance, 

transit, engineering and public works, refuse collection, planning and development, economic 

development, subsidized recreation programs, sports fields, indoor and outdoor walking paths, a 

swimming pool, arenas, a curling rink, airport and water and sewer utility services. The City is focused on 

maintaining and providing a good quality of life for our citizens while building a strong financial future. 
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Organizational Chart  
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Corporate Administration 

The Department of Corporate Administration is responsible for preparation and preservation of the 

minutes, bylaws and other City records. It ensures that all City actions such as Council proceedings, 

elections and land development are conducted in accordance with government legislation. The 

department is also responsible for community economic development and communication. 

 

2020 Goals  

 Implement a new Records Management system. 

 Hold a by-election to fill the vacant Councillor seat due to Councillor Lekstrom’s resignation.  

 Remove or include the encroachments along Chamberlain Park on neighbouring property owner’s 
land. 

 Train staff in Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Training. 
o Staff will be trained to recognize how the Act applies to their jobs and understand how to 

comply with it; know what to do if they receive a request for information; Comprehend 
the Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) process; and know how to protect information.   

 

2020 Highlights 

Chamberlain Park Encroachments 

 With the help of a land agent, 10 adjacent property owners offered to purchase the portion 
of land they were encroaching on and, by the end of 2020, all encroachments on land not 
being purchased by adjacent property owners were removed. 

 The initial requirements for the land sales including Official Community Plan and Zoning 
Amendment Bylaws and the Land Sale Bylaw were completed in October and the transfer of 
land is expected in early 2021.   

 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Training 

 Administration Staff completed Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act online 
awareness training issued by the Province.  The resignations of two Administration staff 
prevented the completion of additional training regarding Privacy Impact Assessments.  

 
Records Management 
Great steps were taken to ensure the continued success of this project and to prepare for the 
Administration pilot project implementation beginning in January 2021. 

 Staff continued to work with the consultant on the completion of the Records Classification & 
Retention Schedule (RCRS) and Records Manual.  

 Staff participated in several Records Management software demonstrations and purchased a new 
software which will make cataloguing and locating files much easier and ensure City staff are 
following a consistent records management procedure. 

 A term employee Records Coordinator was hired and began September 21, 2020. 

 The records analyst visited the City the week of September 21st to provide training on the new 
system to the Deputy Corporate Officer, the Records Coordinator and Administration staff. 

 
 



 
 

2020 Annual Report  

 

15 

2020 Highlights (Cont’d) 

Records Management (Cont’d) 

 Thousands of paper records were reviewed, catalogued and destroyed or retained in accordance 
with the new RCRS.  

 Project statistics for 2020:  
o Total # of Files entered: 8,279 
o Total # of Boxes created: 170 
o Total # of Boxes shredded: 52 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
By-Election 

 The by-election originally scheduled for May 23rd, was rescheduled to October 17th due to 
COVID-19 health orders in place at the time. 

 Best efforts were made to reduce costs however additional COVID-19 measures required 
increased spending for plexi-glass, PPE and cleaning supplies and mail ballot voting. 

 Public communication was increased regarding the voting process and the COVID-19 
restrictions in place to ensure safety of the public and election workers, including the 
creation of a “What to Expect at the Voting Place” video to educate voters on the process 
and voting place layout.  Unfortunately, voter turnout was only 15.6% which staff attributes 
mainly to the pandemic. 

 Newly elected Councillor Darcy Dober completed his orientation training on October 29th and 
was sworn in at the Inaugural Meeting of November 9th. 

 

2021 Goals  

 Implement the new Records Management system in the Administration Department and then 
move on to other departments. 

 Update all agreements and the Master Agreement Listing. 

 Continue Staff Training with a focus on Freedom of Information and Privacy Act, other training 
related to Administration, and cross-over training within the department. 

 Install new audio and visual equipment in Council Chambers and rearrange the seating.  

 Ensure all available grant funding opportunities are communicated to Mayor and Council. 
 
 

  

After Implementing Records Management Before Implementing Records Management 
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Finance 

The Finance Department focuses on five areas to manage the financial transactions for the City: 

 Financial Planning (budgeting, financial control systems, risk and debt management). 

 Financial Reporting (completing legislated and monthly reporting to Council and other 

stakeholders). 

 Financial Processing (receiving money owed to the City and paying the City’s bills). 

 Stakeholder Management (working with Council, citizens, staff, suppliers and partners). 

 Reception (Managing customer service inquiries). 

The department's goal is to provide accurate and timely information for informed decision-making and to 

manage the City’s day-to-day financial business with integrity and efficiency. 

2020 Goals  

 Implement finance budgeting tool–Questica. 

 Implement Asset Management Plan and Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) Plan. 

 Continue with cross-training within the department to allow for more coverage of key positions. 

 

2020 Highlights 

 Council’s direction was met to begin the budget process in July each year. Management received 

budget instructions early in July. The assumption report was presented to Council on October 7th, 

and First Draft discussion began on December 16th, 2019. 

 The Tangible Capital Assets program is now linked to the Accounts Payable invoice, which will 

eliminate any double entries between the Accounts Payable Clerk and the Tangible Capital Assets 

Clerk.  

 Cross-training continues within the department to allow for more coverage of key positions.  This 

is an ongoing process and will involve the new hired employees in the cross-training program. 

 Due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, residents were encouraged to use online options for 

maintaining City accounts such as paying bills through online banking. 

 

2021 Goals  

 Prepare and collect the City’s long term borrowing for items such as the 4-year paving project. 

 Continue to implement a finance budgeting tool–Questica. 

 Implement the Asset Management Plan and Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) Plan. 
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Infrastructure & Development Services  

The Development Services Division enforces the City’s regulatory framework for new building 

construction and land development and plans, and manages the capital projects that relate to the division. 

The Department contains the following divisions:  

 

Building 
The Building Division works with the public to attain compliance with City building bylaws and the BC 

Building Code, and strives to provide a high level of customer service. The division continues to keep up 

to date with technology in construction and building materials. 

 

Bylaw Enforcement 
The Bylaw Division responds to issues on a complaint basis and handles each issue as quickly and in as fair 

a manner as possible to gain compliance. Issues vary from summer to winter and include snow removal, 

parking, and garbage/recycling.  

 

Capital Projects 
The Capital Projects Division prepares estimates, plans, surveys, designs and tenders; and administers 

contracts, inspects (quality assurance), and records all capital projects. The 2019 Capital Project goals have 

been incorporated into the previously-mentioned departments within the Infrastructure and 

Development Services sections. 

 

Engineering 
The Engineering Division provides information to customers regarding construction records, maps, and 

digital base files. The division manages and coordinates roadworks capital projects, provides estimates 

and technical planning services for capital planning, and carries out quality assurance measures on 

processes, procedures, and activities. 

 

GIS  
The GIS Division ensures that all data is current and spatially correct to produce the most up‐to date 

products for our clients in a timely manner. The division produces quality mapping and keeps track of new 

assets.  

 

Planning 
The Planning Division provides procedural advice to developers and processes various applications 

including development permits, zoning amendments, and subdivisions. Long range planning includes 

larger projects such as the Official Community Plan and the Flood Mitigation Plan. 
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Roads and Grounds 
The Roads and Grounds Division provides efficient and effective maintenance of all above ground 

infrastructure, such as roads, parking lots, street lights, and drainage ditches. The department performs 

regular maintenance programs and responds to numerous weather related events each year.  

Utilities 
The Utilities Division is tasked with the maintenance of the City’s underground infrastructure, which 

includes carrying out preventive maintenance programs and responsive repairs. The City’s underground 

infrastructure can be broken into three systems; water, sanitary, and storm.  

Water and Wastewater  
The Water and Wastewater Division focuses on managing source water, water treatment and wastewater 

collection.  The department ensures the City compiles with all Provincial and Federal government 

regulations and the Operators, certified through the Environmental Operators Certification Program 

(EOCP), manage the City’s water and sewer related infrastructure and assets. 

Watershed Stewardship 
The Watershed Stewardship division monitors the Dawson Creek Watershed and the Kiskatinaw 

Watershed, the latter of which is the sole source of water for the City of Dawson Creek.  Strong priorities 

in the department include Flood Mitigation in the urban watershed and support for the organization in 

understanding environmental risks and corners 

 

 

  

15 St Paving Project 
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2020 Goals  

Building 

 Introduce the local building community to the proposed building energy performance standards 

in the 2022 BC Building Code amendment. 

 

Bylaw 

 Implement a City Bylaw Enforcement software system for recording complaints, warnings and 

tickets. 

 Increase compliance with curbside recycling regulations.  

 

Capital Projects 

 Reconstruct 15th Street from 105th to 94th Ave. Sanitary Sewer improvement on 107th Avenue from 

10th to 9th Street and Sanitary Sewer addition on 10th Street from 110th to 112th Avenue. 

 
Engineering 

 Upgrade the Geographic Information Service web server to a secure http site and add the new 

zoning and proposed flood mapping information. 

 

Planning 

 Adopt the new zoning bylaw and development permit guidelines. 

 Incorporate the new floodplain mapping into the Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw.  

Develop new floodplain regulations.  

 

Roads & Grounds 

 Purchase mini excavator for use in cemeteries and asphalt hot box to increase efficiency in 

patching program. Succession planning for retiring manager and vacant utilities/public works 

manager. 

 

Utilities 

 Replace 25 water main valves. Repair or replace outdated sanitary sewer mains. Add manhole 

assessment/inspection program to flushing program. 

 

Water, Wastewater & Watershed  

 Complete the Flood Mapping Project and develop a Flood Mitigation Action Plan that includes 

structural and non-structural solutions towards community based resiliency.  

 Complete Bear Hole Lake Fish Ladder Modifications and dam safety improvements. 

 Install a snow sensor and precipitation gauge at the Water Treatment Plant grounds. 

 Upgrade the City’s water and sewer control network, radios network, and SCADA system. 

 Assessments of City water reservoirs and lagoons systems for future planning and capital 

improvement. 
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2020 Highlights  

 Implemented a computerized maintenance management system, Fiix Software, to facilitate 
strong record keeping of fleet maintenance and repairs as work arises. Worked to integrate parts 
and supplies into the work order system for 2021. 

 Repaired 183 water main valves through internal efforts and contracted capital programs. 

 City Stores and the Storekeeper position were brought into the Public Works Department from 
the Finance Department as part of an efficiency re-organization in order to better support Public 
Works operational needs. 

 Training in excavation safety, fire hydrant repairs and leak detection saw 12 members of the Public 
Works Department get certified in safe excavation and operational water distribution best 
practices. 

 Completion of 15th Street reconstruction. 

 Completion of 10th Street sanitary extension.  

 Completion of 107th Ave sanitary replacement. 

 Implementation of new zoning bylaw and development permit guidelines. 

 Bylaw Officer completed Bylaw Level 2. 

 Building Inspector completed Level 3 certification to meet the March 1, 2021 deadline for 

mandatory certification and qualification requirements under the Building Act. 

 Completed Lagoon drying bed dredging and vegetation removal in order to provide additional 

capacity for our municipal vendors.  

 Completed Water Treatment Road access upgrade to facilitate safe road conditions for 

contractors, vendors, and municipal workers.  

 Completed Phase 1 Network upgrade for Water and Sewer in order to provide stable and 

consistent communication for our water and sewer facilities. 

 Analyzed our power usage in order to have a less impactful footprint on the environment.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15 St Paving Project 15th Street Paving 



 
 

2020 Annual Report  

 

21 

2020 Goal Progress 

Building  

 Met with Building Officials in neighbouring municipalities to discuss BC Energy Step Code, what 

resources are available, and how to best implement the transition. 

 Will meet with building community in spring of 2021. 

 

Bylaw 

 Implemented Omnigo software system January 2020. The program provides instant access to 

records and historical data. 

 The third party recycling auditing was in place until October 2020. During that time contamination 

varied between 7-10%. Contamination is currently between 15-20% with no auditing. 

Engineering 

 A new zoning map was completed August 2020. 

Planning 

 New Zoning Bylaw and Development Permit Guidelines were adopted July 2020. 

 Incorporation of the new floodplain mapping into the Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw 
is near completion. Floodplain regulations have also been developed, and the anticipated 
completion date is March 2021. 
 

Roads & Grounds  

 Purchased mini-excavator and utilized it for duties such as grave digs and ditch cleaning. 

 Purchased asphalt hotbox and utilized it starting late summer to enhance and create efficiencies 
in the pavement patching program. 

 Devon Aaroe, previous Water Resource Manager, moved into the position of Public Works 
Manager and the previous Public Works Manager, Richard Mathieson, retired. Further 
organizational structuring is being planned for 2021 to ensure more in depth succession planning. 
 

Utilities 

 A water valve replacement project was started but not completed this year due to seasonal and 
weather constraints. This project will be completed next year. 

 Sanitary sewer main repairs were conducted on some of the worst condition mains. 

 Manhole assessment and inspection program is undergoing a review and is expected to be 
implemented in full in 2021. 

 

Water, Wastewater & Watershed Stewardship 

 Network Control upgrade for SCADA system for Water and Sewer’s Phase 1 was completed, and 
Phase 2 will commence in spring of 2021. 

 City water assessments for distribution and reservoir integrity were completed.  
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Water, Wastewater & Watershed Stewardship (Cont’d) 

 

 Dam safety inspections were completed to support the integrity of the raw water reservoirs for 
future generations.  

 A Flood Mapping and Mitigation Plan was completed to provide more robust planning for any 
potential future environmental impacts.  

 The department completed the install of a snow sensor and precipitation gauge at the Water 
Treatment Plant grounds.  
  

Bear Hole Lake Weir 

Bear Hole Lake  

Collecting Bear Hole Lake Readings 
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2021 Goals  

 Develop a strong succession plan for the Public Works Department for departmental resiliency 
and operational security. 

 Hire a storekeeper to fill the vacancy left from a maternity leave. 

 Upgrade the compost drop-off site and program. 
 

Building  

 Implement Step one of BC Energy Step Code. 

 Improve the City’s customer service model by implementing enhanced permitting software 

allowing applicants to submit and check status of applications 24/7. 

 

Bylaw 

 Increase Officer safety and training.  

 

Capital Projects 

 Begin to remove and replace dead and dying trees in the City and Brookside cemeteries. 

 Budget and design cemetery scatter garden for future construction. 

 Prepare plans for cemetery long-term planning. 
 
Engineering 

 Upgrade the Geographic Information Service (GIS) web server to a secure http:// site in January 

of 2021. 

 Complete proposed flood map information in February 2021 and integrate to GIS early March 

2021. 

 
Roads & Grounds 

 CCTV the Storm main along Alaska Avenue from 8 St to 17 St. 

 Integrate a Pavement Repair Program between Engineering and Public Works and begin to realize 
efficiencies using the ROVER artificial intelligence asphalt maintenance system. 

 Develop an Equipment Operator training program and begin to implement. 
 

Utilities 

 Modernize and standardize the Manhole Inspection Program and put into practice. 

 Develop and execute the annual drainage ditching and culvert cleaning program. 

 Inspect and clean the Sanitary Trunk Main. 

 Install flow monitoring in the sanitary main to provide valuable data for future repairs and 
construction, but also as a potential early warning system for sewer backup events. 

 Create an action plan to manage any isolated sanitary line problems and improve them. 

 Develop a Sanitary Flood Response Plan. 

 Optimize the current sanitary flushing program. 

 Complete a water valve replacement program. 

 Complete a fire hydrant replacement program. 
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2021 Goals  (Cont’d) 

Water, Wastewater & Watershed Stewardship 

 Predictive Maintenance Plan for associated sewer lift stations.  

 Structural integrity upgrade at the Water Treatment Plant in order to bypass Vault “A” and to 

include additional engineering controls and upgrades to the ADS system.  

 Data Security upgrade for the kiosk stations at the Water Sales Stations, Trucked Waste Facility, 

and Truck Fill Station located at Reclaim Facility.  

 Create a Cross Connection Program in partnership with Northern Lights College.  

 Complete Bear Hole Lake Fish Ladder modifications.  

 Implement structural and non-structural flood mitigation measures, such as the 102 Avenue 

Crossing Replacement and Floodplain Bylaw Amendments.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bear Hole Lake Fish Ladder 

Bear Hole Lake Fish Ladder 
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Community Services 

The Community Services Department’s goal is to ensure our recreation services and facilities support the 
personal wellbeing and improve the quality of life for our citizens. The Department does this through a 
wide spectrum of resources ranging from parks and facilities, recreation activities, safety and 
partnerships. We continue to coordinate, implement, and evaluate our programs, constantly improving 
wherever possible. 
 

Community Services consists of the following divisions: 

 

Recreation 

 Recreation programs and events 

 Facility and sports field  bookings 

 Liaising with facility user groups and community 

organizations 

 

Parks & Facilities 

 Maintain green space and civic playgrounds 

 Horticulture 

 Maintain all civic facilities 

 Manage all capital programs for facilities 

 

Safety 

 Provide a healthy and safe work environment  

 

Recreation 

The Recreation Department supports healthy lifestyle choices for Dawson Creek citizens by promoting 
active living through recreation opportunities (both outdoor and indoor), physical literacy, and the 
reduction of barriers that may otherwise prevent citizens from accessing City sponsored recreation 
programs. 
 

 

The department liaises with community and provincial partners to offer special events and programs 
throughout the year including Park ‘n Play, Annual Family Day free activities, Community Clean Up, 
EveryBODY Active, Free Yoga, Free Family Zumba, Volleyball Leagues, Summer Sports Camps, and a variety 
of drop-in programs. Events and programs are scheduled at City facilities, including the Memorial and Kin 
Arenas, the Kenn Borek Aquatic Centre, the indoor Climbing Wall, the Wayne & Bev Dahlen Walking Track 
and a variety of sports fields and school gymnasiums. 
 

 

In 2020, the department’s focus changed due to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Programs were offered in a 
variety of ways: pre-recorded, virtually live, and face-to-face. Sadly, some of our adult programs were not 
able to be offered.  

Where the Wild Things Are 

Community Event 
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Our very active local sport and community groups utilized City facilities as follows: 
 

# of Participants Location 

64.5 Sports field Rental Hours (Harry Morrow Ball Park only) 

2406.25 Ice Rental Hours 

538.69 Meeting Room Rental Hours (All Facilities) 

473.5 Pool Rental Hours 

132 Recreation Programs and Events, with over 9,000 Participants 

 

Discounted swimming was available from September to December: 8,118 participants attended.  
 

2020 Goals (Revised due to the COVID-19 Pandemic) 

 Implemented phase two of the marketing plan to increase usage of programs and facilities, in 
addition to increasing awareness of our presence in the community. 

 Developed COVID-19 Safety plans for all facilities and programs to allow a return to play. 

 Engaged with facility user groups to define a return to play plan for the 2020/2021 season. 

 Implemented creative programming to promote health, wellness and community spirit within a 
pandemic environment. 
 

  

Community Clean-up 2020 
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2020 Highlights  

 Implemented the new Special Events Policy and Application Form. 

 Partnered with Northern Health and provincial bodies to develop COVID-19 Safety Plans for 
facilities and programs to return to play. 

 Implemented new ways to engage the community throughout the pandemic (virtual, active 
information, Facebook, phone calls, and emails). 

 Engaged in conversation and planning with facility user groups to assist in return to play, 
developing facility schedules, and sharing information from provincial bodies to keep everyone 
up to date with information. 

 Second Phase of Marketing Plan Accomplished: 
o Streamlined by identifying main advertising streams to economize. 
o Updated Website and reorganized Community Services Information. 

 Leisure Access Policy Successes: 
o Individual/family requests – Funding for recreation was approved through the City for 40 

individuals experiencing low economic status. 
o Despite COVID-19, strategy 1c-129 “reduced fee events” were held including special 

events, drop-in programs, equipment rentals, register programs, and online sessions 
(Sunday Fun Day, Relaxation Mondays, Workout Wednesdays, Craft Saturday). 

 Continued Partnership with School District #59 to provide an after school Sports and Arts Initiative 
and moved to a three-day program with 71 unique participants. 

 Provided in-house training within all Community Services staff (High-Five, Recertification,  
COVID-19 Orientation, etc.) 

 

2021 Goals  

 Prepare and transition to new recreation software for programs and facilities. 

 Fees and charges review for 2017-2019. 

 Review program capacity and implement public good strategies and partnerships. 

 Develop a process to measure engagement versus use for recreational activities. 

 Develop a staff retention and succession plan. 

 Identify missing populations not attending the recreation and aquatic programs and 
develop engagement strategies to increase participation. 
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Parks and Facilities 

The Parks and Facilities Department is responsible for promoting, planning, and delivering services in the 

City’s green spaces and civic properties that support personal wellbeing and quality of life.  

 

The City’s Parks Staff is responsible for the aesthetics, functionality and maintenance of 28.8 acres of 

sports fields, 31 parks (120 acres), 13 playgrounds, tennis courts, the senior’s fitness park, the skate park, 

6.56 km of walking trails, 6.2 acres of highway right-of-ways, as well as cemeteries and more. Parks staff 

are also responsible for the overall cleanliness of the City and conduct spring cleanup, which includes the 

sweeping of gravel from all boulevards and ongoing garbage removal duties throughout all public areas. 

  

The City’s Facilities staff are responsible for general care and maintenance of all civic buildings and the 

overall operation of all City facilities that are not leased by external or private organizations. In total, there 

are 74 facilities, ranging from pump stations outside of the City boundaries, to local buildings including 

arenas, City Hall, the RCMP Detachment and the Fire Hall. Responsibilities include the overall interior and 

exterior cleanliness and structural integrity of the buildings, as well as the operation of mechanical 

equipment to ensure proper air quality, heating and cooling, electrical, and plumbing.  

 

2020 Goals  

 Complete retrofit at the Art Gallery. 

 Continue building audits/assessments on the highest priority buildings. 

 Capital plan projects will include upgrades to the Calvin Kruk Centre for the Arts, both arenas, the 

curling rink, and the pool.   

 Continue with the strategic plan to improve the Park’s department efficiencies to operate within 

Council’s goals.   

 

2020 Highlights  

 Through grants from BC gaming, NDIT and City capital funds, the following Art Gallery upgrades 
were accomplished: 

o New carpet installed on the ramp, walls and stairwell 
o New linoleum installed in the bathroom and back framing area 
o New lighting in exhibition area  
o New counters, work area, and display shelving fort he gifts shop 
o Upgraded main floor bathroom to be more accessible 
o Updated fire panel 
o Upgraded building electrical  
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2020 Highlights (Cont’d) 

 Capital plan projects will include upgrades to Calvin Kruk Centre, arenas, the curling rink and the 
pool.   

o The pool mechanical upgrades were completed. However, due to COVID-19, we have 
carried-over the Calvin Kruk mechanical, arenas and the curling rink upgrades to 2021. 

 We continue to work on our plans to improve the Park’s department efficiencies to operate within 
council’s goals.   

 We have incorporated all city buildings and their fixed assets into our FIIX building maintenance 
program. 

 COVID-19 protocols were implemented for parks and facilities. 

 Worked with Trane on completing 5-year maintenance program for the ice plant. 

 We are working on facility assessments and audits to ensure all City buildings have a five-year 
capital plan.   

 

2021 Goals  

 Complete capital work: 
o arenas and curling rink  
o Kiwanis Performing Arts Centre (KPAC) Mechanical upgrades  
o Exhibition Grounds Demo  
o Work with Urban Systems on memorial pad replacement 
o Kenn Borek Aquatic Centre (KBAC) Mechanical Upgrades and install lobby and front 

counter flooring  
o Lakota Centre Rehabilitation  
o Tennis Courts Upgrade 

 

 Continue building audits/assessments on the highest priority buildings. 

 Continues with our strategic plan to improve the Park’s department efficiencies to operate within 
Council’s goals.   

 Explore indoor sports flooring. 
 

 

 

 

  

Art Gallery Retrofit 
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Health and Safety 

The City of Dawson Creek is committed to providing a healthy and safe work environment for all 

employees. 

The Health and Safety department continues to focus on achieving the WorkSafeBC Certificate of 

Recognition (COR). The strategy is to continue strengthening the use and involvement of the Internal 

Responsibility System (IRS). The IRS philosophy is based on the principle that every individual in the 

workplace is responsible for health and safety. This includes Council, management, and workers.  To this 

end, the department is seeking effective collaboration with the workplace Joint Occupational Health and 

Safety Committees, managers, supervisors, and workers to improve every element of the City’s Safety 

Management System.  

2020 Goals  

 Continue to improve the various components of the City’s Safety Management System with the 

full collaboration of the Internal Responsibility System (IRS). 

 Review and update current health and safety policies. 

 Complete the revision and roll out of the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) manual. 

 Safety Department with the JOHSC will complete the annual review of OHS programs. 

 Continue to work towards obtaining the COR, awarded by WorkSafe BC. 

 

2020 Highlights  

 In the past year, workers and management were offered the following health and safety-related 
training: 

o Shoring and Excavation training  (City Public Works staff and City contractors)  
o Joint Health and Safety Committee – new member training 
o Emergency First Aid  
o Musculoskeletal Disorder (MSD) Reduction Strategies for Supervisors 
o COVID-19 Psychological Support Toolkit for Employees and Managers (Virtual summit 

series)  

 The Safety Department participated and/or organized the following activities: Pink Shirt Day, 
Annual Day of Mourning, Audiometric Testing, and the Flu Shot Vaccination Clinic.  

 The Department conducted a Certificate of Recognition (COR) readiness assessment on the Health 
and Safety Management System under the parameters of the COR Program as set out by the BC 
Municipal Safety Association. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shoring & Excavation Training at Public Works Yard 



 
 

2020 Annual Report  

 

31 

 

2020 Highlights (Cont’d) 

 The Safety Department completed and distributed the new Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System Manual to all City departments as part of our goal to achieve the 
WorkSafeBC Certificate of Recognition (COR). 

 For the third year back to back, WorkSafeBC awarded the City a 28.8% experience rating (ER) 
discount based on its claims and payroll history. The discount reduced the net premium rate from 
$2.60 to $2.19 of the City of Dawson Creek's assessable payroll. 

 In response to the 2020 Novell Coronavirus (COVID-19), the department led and collaborated with 
other departments to implement new safe work procedures, policies, and guidelines for staff's health 
and safety in response to various Provincial and WorkSafeBC orders and recommendations. Building 
Audit 

o Building audits were completed for the NAR Park, the Art Gallery, the Picture Rental 
Building, the Roots Building, and the Visitor’s Centre. 

o Building audits were completed for Airport Facilities including the Terminal Building, the  
            the Hanger Building, and the Tower. 

 

2021 Goals  

 Continue the improvement of the various components of the City’s Safety Management System 
with the full collaboration of the Internal Responsibility System (IRS). 

 Review appropriate Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) programs. 

 Continue to provide appropriate Health and Safety training based on training needs analysis. 

 Work with the British Columbia Municipal Safety Association towards obtaining the WorkSafeBC 
Certificate of Recognition (COR).  
 

  

Shoring & Excavation Training 
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Fire Department 

The Dawson Creek Fire Department (DCFD) provides a number of services to the City including prevention, 

education, and in-service inspections of City businesses including those required for the issuance of new 

business licenses.  The DCFD is also responsible for providing in-service training.   

The DCFD liaises with the Fire Commissioner’s office, gathering fire related information to help reduce fire 

losses within the community. The department is also responsible for the issuance of burn permits for 

burning activities within the City, monitoring many fire alarms and security alarms throughout the City, 

and responding to emergency dispatches from other fire departments within the adjacent proximity of 

the City. 

The DCFD is committed to providing the following service modules: 1) Fire and Emergency Response. 2) 

Fire and Life Safety Education. 3) Fire Inspection Branch and Enforcement.  

2020 Goals  

 Implement and track performance of the new policy for response protocols as directed by Council. 

o Direct staff with regards to operational protocol for call backs on responses. 

o Develop a system to track the results of actions stemming from the new protocol. 

 Implement an unwanted/false alarm strategy. 

o Develop protocols for fair imposition of penalties for false alarms. 

 Recertify Ladder Truck 4 to extend its operational status. 

o Work with a truck service specialist to ensure the apparatus meets the National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) and Fire Underwriters Survey (FUS) requirements for 

recertification. 

 Redevelop the training program for staff and auxiliary members for skills maintenance and new 

training opportunities. 

 Develop and engage in mutual aid agreements with our mutual aid communities. 

2020 Highlights  

 Cut overtime costs for response with new call back protocols. 

 Developed programs to maintain response capabilities within COVID-19 protocols. 

 New COVID-19 protocols were established throughout the department and were monitored 

closely in conjunction with the Dawson Creek Health & Safety Coordinator. 

 Conducted ‘birthday drive-bys” to help with COVID-19-related isolation. 

 Conducted a selection process for filling the vacancy in the Dawson Creek Fire Department (DCFD) 

due to departures and promotions. 
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2020 Highlights (Cont’d) 

 Due to COVID-19, the DCFD had to suspend or reduce certain types of training at times. 

Firefighters still managed to participate in over 1900 hours of training to serve the community’s 

needs. The training was a combination of daily skills maintenance and acquiring new skills, such 

as conducting a full department Fire Ground Survival Training and Mayday Protocols that took 

place at the training grounds. 

 Promoted Captain Marcel Capelle to the role of Fire Chief In November of 2020. 

 Hired two new firefighters, (Ross Evens and Brendan Lazinchuk) to fill the vacancies created by 

one firefighter’s departure and the Fire Chief promotion. 

 

 

  

  



 
 

2020 Annual Report  

 

34 

2021 Goals 

 Efficiently and effectively balance fire and public safety services. 

 Serve the community through excellence in fire prevention, education, protection and safety. 

 Continue upgrades on the Emergency Services Training Centre site to improve operational 

capabilities and modernized efficient training.  

 Staff will be upgrading their medical responder qualifications to the higher standard of Emergency 

Medical Responder from the First Responder certification currently held. 

 Continue to upgrade and monitor training programs in regards to COVID-19 19 protocols for staff 

and auxiliary members in regards to skills maintenance and new training opportunities 

 Recertify Ladder Truck 4 to extend its operational 

status. 

o Work with a truck service specialist to 

ensure the apparatus meets the National 

Fire Protection Association (NFPA) and Fire 

Underwriters Survey (FUS) requirements for 

recertification 

 Continue development of mutual aid agreements 

with our mutual aid communities. 

 Install professional fire gear Washer Extractor and 

Gear Drying Cabinet equipment in the fire station 

to enable a safer environment for our firefighters 

and to the public, by keeping all cleaning of gear in 

station. This will also ensure the longevity and 

protection of the fire gear. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emergency Services Training Centre 

DCFD Truck 
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Airport 

The Dawson Creek Regional Airport provides vital services and facilities for air carriers, corporate, private, 

air ambulance (government), courier, police, and military aircraft. Airport operations and procedures such 

as: security, safety, bird and wildlife control, vehicle and airside access control, airfield maintenance, 

apron control, terminal services, foreign object debris/damage control, and aviation fuel monitoring 

programs are dictated by regulatory requirements. We continue to meet and exceed regulatory 

requirements. 

2020 Goals  

 Continued study to increasing revenue at the airport while reducing costs where allowed. 

 Application for various grants to fund the proposed runway extension. 

 Regulated Quality Assurance audits to ensure all safety and security regulations are met and/or 

exceeded. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

2020 Highlights 

 WestJet Link daily service to Calgary has been delayed due to the impacts of the COVID-19 

pandemic. However, the dialog between the City and WestJet Link continues to be positive and 

collaborative as the aviation industry navigates the situation. 

 Sealand Flight Ltd will continue operating the Flight School through December 2021. The 

additional aircraft movements from training flights have doubled the total aircraft movements in 

2020 over the movements recorded in 2019. 

 Airport operations have continued throughout the COVID-19 pandemic with no impact to levels 

of safety or service at the Airport. 

 

2021 Goals  

 Simplified Airfield Maintenance Training 

 Conduct a virtual Emergency Response Tabletop Exercise 

 Increase frequency and effectiveness of communications with Airport Stakeholders 

  

C-130 at YDQ 
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Royal Canadian Mounted Police 

The Dawson Creek RCMP Detachment is funded primarily by the City of Dawson Creek, and includes 31 

uniformed members, 11 civilian support staff, 4 civilian casual support staff and 12 guards and matrons. 

The detachment building is municipally owned and maintained. Members of the Dawson Creek 

Detachment provide policing coverage to the municipality as well as to the rural areas surrounding 

Dawson Creek. 

 

 

2020 Goals  

 Organized Crime/Repeat Chronic Offenders: Identification and management of chronic/repeat 

offenders 

o Dawson Creek RCMP identified the top 10 chronic offenders in the area and aggressively 

targeted identified offenders resulting in a significant decrease in property crime in the 

area. Dawson Creek RCMP began initial planning for the Alternative Path for Chronic 

Offenders (APCO) program. 

 Property Theft: Reduce Theft Under $5000 by 10% 

o Dawson Creek RCMP targeted known property-crime offenders in several intelligence-led 

projects. Pro-active presentations were completed throughout the year and patrols were 

increased in high-crime areas. The result was a 23% reduction in theft over the year. 

 Substance Abuse/Drugs: Address homes in the area believed to be selling illicit drugs 

o Dawson Creek RCMP drafted in excess of 20 search warrants for drug and property crime 

offences at 14 different residences throughout the Dawson Creek area. Large quantities of 

drugs and stolen property were recovered resulting in a significant reduction of crime in the 

area.  
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2020 Highlights  

 Dawson Creek RCMP Detachment took 8,186 calls for service, a decrease of 12% from the year 
prior 

 Over the year, Dawson Creek RCMP seized 124 firearms and a large quantity of illicit drugs 

 The COVID-19 pandemic was an unprecedented event requiring the Dawson Creek RCMP 
Detachment to implement business continuity strategies throughout the year which ensured 
quality policing services were maintained. 

 

2021 Goals  

 Targeting impaired driving and distracted driving. 

 Focusing on substance abuse and drug-related enforcement. 

 Focusing on property crime related to theft from motor vehicles and break & enters at residences. 

 Providing more police presence in the community. 
 

Library 

The emergence of COVID-19 had a major impact on public libraries throughout British Columbia in 2020, 

and the Dawson Creek Public Library was no exception. The library was ordered closed by the provincial 

government in mid-March and was to remain closed until the beginning of July. Despite the pandemic 

restrictions, our library quickly adapted and strived to provide services while maintaining the safety of our 

patrons as our primary concern.  

The Dawson Creek Public Library houses a physical collection of 70,117 print and audio-visual titles. 

Patrons also have free access to nearly 90,000 electronic books and audiobooks through the library’s 

Library-to-Go subscription. This allows our patrons to download e-books or e-audiobooks to their tablets, 

smart phones, home computers or e-reader devices for free. During the library closure this meant patrons 

were able to continue to access reading material – including adult fiction, non-fiction and children’s books. 

In 2020, 529 Dawson Creek Public Library patrons borrowed e-books and e-audiobooks. This is an increase 

of 158 users from 2019. Our patrons borrowed 14,263 e-titles in 2020, an increase of nearly 4,000 e-titles 

over the year before. This is likely due to the pandemic.  

In 2020 there were 2,254 active library card holders including 428 children and youth with active cards. 

The library registered 198 new resident cardholders. Circulation of print and other physical materials to 

resident card holders totalled 31,433 loans – this included 12,928 loans of children’s materials in 2020. 

The library also has a very robust interlibrary loan program. This allows local patrons to access books and 

audio-visual materials from other libraries throughout BC and, reciprocally, the Dawson Creek Public 

Library lends its materials to patrons throughout BC through their home library. In 2020, the DCPL lent 

1,868 items, and borrowed 1,088 items from other libraries through our interlibrary loan program. While 

overall circulation was lower in 2020 than in 2019 due to the four-month pandemic closure, these 

numbers are notable.  
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2020 Goals  

 Increase adult programming that focuses on opportunities to learn and be entertained.  

 Establish connections with local aboriginal organizations and partner with them to provide library 

services and programming to their community both at the library and in their communities. 

 Continue an Outreach Program: sending the library out into the community to places you might 

not normally find us.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 Highlights 

 Before its closure to the public on March 16, the library hosted a 2019 Reading Challenge Party 

and, with the Friends of the Library, hosted a Senior’s Valentine’s Tea.  

 The library continued to accept returns of borrowed materials through the outside book drop and 

encouraged patrons to keep any materials they had until the library re-opened if they wished.  

 Patrons were encouraged to borrow e-books and e-audiobooks.  

 During 2020, there were 11,432 library website and catalogue virtual visits. 

 Free public wifi was available throughout the library closure as the signal was strong enough for 

people to login from the parking lot and library lawn.  

 At the beginning of June, the library initiated “Library Take Out” – a contactless curbside delivery 

of books to patrons. Patrons could call, email or use their online account to order books and staff 

delivered their books to their vehicle in the parking lot or to the front door of the library. 

 Safety restrictions were put in place including limiting the number of patrons in the building, 

plexiglass barriers, hand sanitizing and quarantining of returned items for three days before they 

were returned to the library shelves.   

 The annual children’s summer reading club was conducted almost entirely outside on the lawn of 

the library.  

 

 

Summer Reading Club on the Lawn at the Library 
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2020 Highlights (Cont’d) 

 In the fall, children’s story time programming was adapted to be delivered on the library’s 

Facebook page and a library YouTube channel was created so the story times could be watched 

anytime. 

  In the weeks leading up to Christmas, the library provided a free holiday-themed book to any 

child who came through the doors. The library also teamed up with Tourism Dawson Creek to 

provide free children’s books to the families who took part in the Christmas event at the Tourism 

Visitor’s Centre. 

 In late 2020, the library took on the administration and fundraising for the Dolly Parton 

Imagination Library in the Dawson Creek community.  

2021 Goals 

In 2021, the library board and staff hope 

to resume working toward the 2020 goals 

that were postponed due to COVID-19 

restrictions as soon as safely permitted. 

The library will be focused on: 

 Increased adult programming. 

 Improved connections with the 

Indigenous community. 

 Outreach programming. 

 Providing online or virtual 

programming until pandemic 

restrictions are eased.  

 

  

Mini Library at the Nawican Friendship Centre 
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Permissive Tax Exemptions 
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Permissive Tax Exemptions – Public Worship 
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Annual Development Cost Charges Report 
 
 
 

For the year ending December 31, 2020 
 

 
 

OPENING 
BALANCE 

 

DEVELOPMENT COST 
CHARGES RECEIVED 

 

EXPENDITURES 

 

INTEREST 
EARNED 

 

CLOSING BALANCE 

 

Water 
 

$845,592.16 
 

$152,865.39 
 

0 
 

$10,142.68 
 

$1,008,600.23 

 

Sewer 
 

$464,360.02 
 

$86,252.19 
 

0 
 

$5,554.37 
 

$556,166.58 

 
 

Assets  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44%

4%
6%

21%

24%

1%

Asset Base - 2020         
Net Book Value $228M

Buildings and
Improvements

Equipment

Land and Improvements

Streets, Roads &
Sidewalks

Utility Infrastructure

Work In Progress
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Note: Net book value indicates the value of assets after deducting the accumulated depreciation from the 

original cost. 

Approximately 44% of the City’s 2020 asset base is related to buildings and improvements. As can be seen 

from the pie charts above, the money spent correlates closely to the base, except in the utility 

infrastructure category.  

 
2020 Baseline Comparison Summary 

In summary: 

• The City owns $362M in tangible capital assets at December 31, 2020. 

• Buildings, roads and utility infrastructure make up 91% of the total. 

• The largest asset investment by service area is in Transportation (42.74%), followed by General 

Government (29.41%), Utility Infrastructure (21.14%), and Recreation (6.71%). 

• The asset base as a whole is approximately 49.5% through its useful service life. 

• A minimum of $9.2M (2020 Annual Depreciation) should be reinvested annually or set aside in 

reserves to maintain the asset base at its current level (to offset the depreciation effect). 

Greater investment is needed for equipment (34% remaining life), land improvement (37%) and road 

infrastructure replacement (34%) in the short term to maintain current service levels. 

Linear Assets 

ASSETS 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Sidewalks 51.3 km 51.3 km 55.4 km 56.3 km 56.3 km 

Paved Streets (City Owned) 107.3 km 107.3 km 107.5 km 107.5 km 107.5 km 

Paved Lanes 2 km 2 km 2 km 2 km 2 km 

Gravelled Streets (City Owned) 16.5 km 16.5 km 16.5 km 16.5 km 16.5 km 

Sanitary Sewer Mains 111.6 km 111.6 km 113.4 km 115.3 km 115.5 km 

Water Mains (Domestic/Raw) 
143 km 
/19 km 

143 km /19 
km 

143 km   
/19 km 

143 km/ 19 km 
145 km/ 19 

km 

Storm Sewer Main 65.8 km 65.8 km 67.8 km 71.9 km 74.4 km 
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ASSETS (Cont’d) 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Service Connections to property 5218 5224 5235 5268 5265 

City Street Lights 585 585 610 634 674 

Sanitary Manholes 1152 1152 1174 1188 1197 

Signs 2261 2261 2289 2306 2305 

Storm Manholes 628 628 658 677 683 

Catch Basins 1121 1121 1156 1178 1201 

Fire Hydrants (City Owned) 484 484 495 498 499 

Water–Total Fixtures  

(**includes water main valves) 
1230 1230 1270 1264 1263 

Water Main Valves 1006 1006 1039 1057 1056 

Traffic Lights 2 2 2 2 2 

Solar Crossing Lights 8 8 10 11 11 

Solar Caution Lights (Warning) 2 2 2 2 2 

Solar Walking Path Lights 2 2 2 2 2 

      

ASSETS 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Solar Stoplights 2 2 2 2 2 

Solar Street Lights Removed Removed Removed 0 0 

Solar Speed Signs 
5 + 1 

portable 
5 + 1 

portable 
5 + 1     

portable 

5 + 1 portable 5 +1 

portable 

 

*Note:  These numbers are reflective of all City Owned assets. As of 2020, counts do not include 

abandoned services. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Mayor and Council of The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of
Dawson Creek, which comprise of the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2020 and the consolidated statements of operations and changes in surplus, changes in net debt and
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek as at December 31,
2020 and the results of its operations and its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with
Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the municipality
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the municipality's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Municipality or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the municipality's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report – (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the municipality’s internal control.

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

· Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the municipality’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the municipality to cease
to continue as a going concern.

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Dawson Creek, BC
April 12, 2021 Chartered Professional Accountants
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGE IN SURPLUS

December 31, 2020

2020 2020 2019

Actual
Budget

(unaudited -
Note 18)

Actual

Revenue

Net municipal property taxes (Note 12) $ 17,453,663 $ 18,520,701 $ 17,589,239

Grants in lieu of taxes 1,384,033 1,396,959 1,017,719

Sale of services 2,733,878 3,358,806 3,384,476

Other revenue from own sources 933,626 1,110,726 1,495,819

Government transfers (Note 13) 21,434,772 18,753,875 21,415,955

Return on investments 515,934 389,924 805,257

Amortization of deferred capital contribution 1,658,995 1,658,992 1,658,990

Utility fees 9,329,090 9,954,007 9,717,077

Land sales - - 18,300

Actuarial adjustment 796,037 - 843,006

Gain/(loss) on sale of tangible capital assets 36,599 - 47,600

56,276,627 55,143,990 57,993,438

Expenses

General government services 4,564,736 5,039,363 4,311,589

Protective services 9,052,640 9,465,307 8,996,516

Transportation services 8,440,746 7,902,805 8,497,927

Air transport 1,256,188 1,415,431 1,505,916

Environmental waste services 1,002,293 1,127,470 1,157,940

Public health and welfare 195,315 207,021 190,704

Environmental development services 1,034,190 1,050,043 1,170,338

Recreational and cultural services 10,804,401 13,092,306 11,470,978

Water and sewer utility services 7,354,164 7,314,968 7,532,336

43,704,673 46,614,714 44,834,244

Annual Surplus 12,571,954 8,529,276 13,159,194

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 226,210,282 226,210,282 213,051,088

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 238,782,236 $ 234,739,558 $ 226,210,282

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS / (NET DEBT)

December 31, 2020

2020

Actual

2020

Budget (unaudited
- Note 18)

2019

Actual

Annual Surplus $ 12,571,954 $ 8,529,276 $ 13,159,194

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,386,250 9,253,465 8,948,432

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (7,834,776) (14,648,537) (10,017,727)

Gain (loss) on sale of tangible capital assets (36,599) - (47,600)

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 36,599 - 78,325

Acquisitions of prepaid expenses (769,659) - (891,975)

Use of prepaid expenses 711,412 - 814,043

Acquisition of supplies inventory (385,119) - (560,333)

Consumption of supplies inventory 449,770 - 621,603

Decrease in Net Financial Assets / (Net Debt) 14,129,832 3,134,204 12,103,962

Net Financial Assets / (Net Debt), beginning of year (3,952,887) (3,952,887) (16,056,849)

Net Financial Assets / (Net Debt), end of year $ 10,176,945 $ (818,683) $ (3,952,887)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

December 31, 2020

2020 2019

Operating Activities

Annual Surplus $ 12,571,954 $ 13,159,194

Add (deduct) non-cash items:

Actuarial adjustment (796,037) (843,006)

(Loss) Gain on sale of tangible capital asset (36,599) (47,600)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,386,250 8,948,432

Amortization of deferred capital contribution (1,658,995) (1,658,990)

19,466,573 19,558,030

Decrease (Increase) in receivables 4,213,269 (1,886,945)

(Increase) in prepaid expenses (58,248) (77,932)

Decrease in inventory  of supplies held for consumption 64,651 61,270

Increase (decrease) in payables 828,808 (247,312)

(Decrease) in accrued interest on long term debt (845) (5,157)

(Decrease) in deferred revenue (146,833) (117,222)

24,367,375 17,284,732

Capital Activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (7,834,776) (10,017,727)

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 36,599 78,325

(7,798,177) (9,939,402)

Financing Activities

Short term borrowing payment - (34,227)

Debenture debt principal (2,165,378) (2,293,164)

(2,165,378) (2,327,391)

Change in Cash and Investments 14,403,820 5,017,939

Cash and Investments, beginning of year 28,223,142 23,205,203

Cash and Investments, end of year $ 42,626,962 $ 28,223,142

Cash and Investments consist of the following:

Petty Cash - trade $ 50,550 $ 83,651

Bank 22,558,208 10,272,912

Internally Restricted Cash 20,018,204 17,866,579

$ 42,626,962 $ 28,223,142

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

General

The City of Dawson Creek is incorporated under the provisions of the British Columbia Local Government Act.  Its principle
activities include the provision of local government services to the residents of the incorporated area.

1 Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek are the representations of
management and conform to Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to British Columbia
municipalities.  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with local government accounting standards
established by the Public Sector Accounting and Auditing Standards Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants.  The significant accounting policies are as follows:

a) Basis of Presentation

The City follows the fund basis of accounting.  Funds are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or
attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations.  Currently in use are:

1) General Revenue Funds - to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another
fund.  The General Revenue Fund is the corporation's operating fund including collection of taxation, administering
operations related to general government, protective, transportation, waste, development and recreational services.
These funds include the General Operating, Water Operating and Sewer Operating Funds.

2) Capital Funds - to account for all capital assets of the corporation and offset by long term debt and investment in
capital assets. These funds include the General Capital, Water Capital and Sewer Capital Funds.

3) Reserve Funds - to account for the activities in reserves established for specific purposes by bylaw or the Local
Government Act.  The use of each reserve is governed by it's own bylaw or the Local Government Act. These funds
include the Equipment Pool, Tax Sale, Land Sale and Off Street Parking Funds.

b) Basis of Accounting

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are recognized in the period in
which the transactions or events occurred that gave rise to the revenues. Expenditures are generally recognized in the
period the goods and services are acquired and a liability is incurred or transfers are due.

c) Financial Instruments

The City's financial instruments consist of cash, receivables, Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) reserve deposits,
temporary borrowing, payables, accrued interest on long term debt, MFA demand notes, and long-term debt.  Unless
otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the City is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks
arising from these financial instruments.  The fair value of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values,
unless otherwise noted.

d) Use of Estimates

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting practices generally accepted in Canada.
In preparing these financial statements management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include assumptions used in estimating
useful lives of tangible capital assets and related amortization, contributed tangible capital assets, developer
contributions, inventory of property held for resale and provisions for accrued liabilities.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

1 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

e) Reporting Entity

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures, changes in fund balances
and changes in financial position of the reporting entity, being The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek.  Financial
transactions of the Encana Events Centre and Dawson Creek Tourism are managed by a related party, Global Spectrum
Facility Management, LP and are consolidated into the City's financial statements as a governmental unit (refer to Note
15, Related Party Transactions.)

f) Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized in the period in which the transaction or events occurred that gave rise to the revenues. All
revenues are recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of
certainty or when their estimation is impractical.

(i) Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenues in the period the
transfers are authorized and any eligibility criteria have been met, except when and to the extent
that the transfer gives rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability for the recipient
government. Transfers received which meet the definition of a liability are included in deferred
revenue.

(ii) Taxation Revenue

Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general administrative services are
recorded as taxes for municipal purposes. Levies imposed by other taxing authorities are not
included as taxes for municipal purposes. Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year they are
levied.

g) Deferred Revenue

Certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. Revenue is
recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred or the services are performed.

h) Reserves for Future Expenditures

Reserves for future expenditures are non-statutory reserves which represent an appropriation of surplus for specific
purposes. Transfers to reserves for future expenditures include funds to finance incomplete projects and accumulations
for specific purposes.

i) Non Financial Assets

Non financial assets include tangible capital assets that have an economic life extending beyond the accounting period.
They are available for use, require operating and maintenance expenditures, and may need to be replaced in the future.
They include assets on hand and available for use by government in the near future, such as equipment, and assets for
use over a longer period, such as buildings and land.  Governments also acquire and make available to the public
tangible capital assets that are complex network systems such as water and sewer utility systems.

Also included in non financial assets are prepaid expenses which represent payments made in the current accounting
period for expenditures to be made in the provision of services in future years, and inventory of supplies held for
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

1 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

i) Non Financial Assets (Continued)
consumption which will be consumed in the provision of services in future years.

Tangible capital assets and other non financial assets are accounted for as assets by the government because they can
be used to provide government services in future periods.  These assets do not normally provide resources to discharge
the liabilities of the government unless they are sold.

(i) Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consist of amounts paid in the current year for supplies and/or services used in
the following year.

(ii) Inventory of Supplies Held for Consumption

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable
value.

(iii) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts directly attributable to
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  Interest on funding related to
a capital project is not capitalized as a part of the asset cost.  The cost, less residual value, of the
tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Asset Useful life-years

Land Not amortized

Land improvements 20

Building base structures 50

Building improvements 20

Machinery and equipment 7 - 30

Transportation infrastructure 25 - 75

Water and sewer utility infrastructure 50 -75

Annual amortization is not charged in the year of acquisition or disposition.  Assets under
construction (Work in Progress) are not amortized until the year following the year the asset is
available for use.

The City does not own any works of art and/or historical treasures.

j) Budget Presentation

The budget approved by Council on April 27, 2020 is presented in the financial statements, the subsequent amendment
has been included in Note 18.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

1 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

   k)      Liabilities for contaminated sites

The City recognizes a liability for remediation of a contaminated site when the site is no longer in productive use or an
unexpected event resulting in contamination has occurred and the following criteria are satisfied: contamination exceeds
and environmental standard, the City is either directly responsible or has accepted responsibility for remediation, it is
expected future economic benefits will be given up and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

The City adopted Public Sector Accounting Standard 3260 - Liability for Contaminated Sites for the year ended December
31, 2015. The City has performed a review of it's properties. No determinable liability was identified from this review.

2 Cash

2020 2019

Unrestricted Cash

Bank $ 22,558,208 $ 10,272,912

Petty Cash - trade 50,550 83,651

Internally Restricted Cash

Bank 20,018,204 17,866,579

$ 42,626,962 $ 28,223,142

3 Receivables

2020 2019

Trade and Other receivables

Federal Government $ 153,292 $ 558,267

Provincial and Local Government 508,213 741,898

General 718,073 3,624,389

Property Tax 2,151,991 2,456,796

Utilities 1,063,530 1,427,018

$ 4,595,099 $ 8,808,368

4 Inventory of Property Held for Resale

Opening 
Balance

Additions Disposals
at cost

Balance
2020

Balance
2019

Property acquired for taxes
subject to redemption $ 47,545 $ 25,761 $ (47,545)$ 25,761 $ 47,545

Tax property not subject
to redemption 1,009,092 25,205 - 1,034,297 1,009,092

Unsold land 15,800 25,205 - 41,005 15,800

Allowance for loss (1,072,437) (25,205) (3,421) (1,101,063) (1,072,437)

$ - $ 50,966 $ (50,966)$ - $ -
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

5 Municipal Finance Authority Reserve Deposits and Demand Notes

The City issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority.  As a condition of these borrowings, a portion
of the debenture proceeds are withheld by the Municipal Finance Authority as a debt reserve fund.  The City also executes
demand notes in conjunction with each debenture whereby the City may be required to loan certain amounts to the
Municipal Finance Authority.

The details of the cash deposits and demand notes are as follows:

Cash
Deposits

Demand
Notes

Total
2020

Total
2019

GC- MFA Cash Deposit $ 315,361 $ 872,776 $ 1,188,137 $ 1,181,778

Water Fund Operations 170,495 409,171 579,666 587,480

Sewer Fund Operations 90,093 185,560 275,653 273,836

$ 575,949 $ 1,467,507 $ 2,043,456 $ 2,043,094

6 Payables

2020 2019

Trade and Other Payables

Federal Government $ 1,653,138 $ 996,056

Provincial Government 1,943,996 244,348

General 5,214,671 6,664,507

Capital Payables 633,800 711,886

$ 9,445,605 $ 8,616,797

7 Debenture Debt

City
Bylaw #

Purpose Interest
Rate

Issued Redeemed Outstanding
2020

Outstanding
2019

3879 South Peace Multiplex %5.11 $ 9,850,000 $ 5,499,829 $ 4,350,171 $ 4,879,760

4080 Calvin Kruk Arts Center %2.90 4,000,000 1,237,719 2,762,281 2,939,046

4107 Capital works %2.90 81,007 62,170 18,837 27,716

4108 Capital works %2.90 804,005 617,043 186,962 275,085

4109 Capital works %2.90 1,505,256 1,155,226 350,030 515,014

4140 Capital works %3.15 2,700,000 1,776,212 923,788 1,208,340

4166 Local area service - 2013 %3.00 2,790,000 1,541,382 1,248,618 1,531,345

4211 Local area service - 2014 %2.75 20,997 9,598 11,399 13,453

4212 Local service - 2014 %2.75 49,433 22,596 26,837 31,672

4213 Local area service - 2014 %2.75 174,365 79,703 94,662 111,718

4215 Capital works %2.20 1,382,000 631,718 750,282 885,465

4216 Capital works %2.20 450,000 205,697 244,303 288,321
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

7 Debenture Debt (Continued)

City
Bylaw #

Purpose Interest
Rate

Issued Redeemed Outstanding
2020

Outstanding
2019

4264 Local area service - 2015 %2.80 176,043 47,465 128,578 144,870

Total General 23,983,106 12,886,358 11,096,748 12,851,805

3469 Water improvements %2.10 195,000 195,000 - 14,583

3527 Water improvements %1.75 750,000 638,097 111,903 163,890

3527 Water improvements %2.85 175,334 137,020 38,314 49,889

3572 Water improvements %2.85 200,000 156,296 43,704 56,907

3619 Water improvements %2.85 1,200,000 858,556 341,444 416,890

3527 Water improvements %2.25 700,000 500,825 199,175 243,186

3619 Water improvements %2.25 1,971,000 1,410,179 560,821 684,742

3527 Water improvements %2.25 556,666 310,819 245,847 275,776

3824 Water improvements %2.25 555,000 309,889 245,111 274,951

3888 Water improvements %5.11 1,844,900 1,030,115 814,785 913,977

4168 LA: Loran Reservoir %3.00 3,500,000 1,933,634 1,566,366 1,921,043

Total Water 11,647,900 7,480,430 4,167,470 5,015,834

3759 Sewer improvements %1.80 300,000 202,798 97,202 114,716

4121 Sewer improvements %3.85 535,496 352,279 183,217 239,652

4199 Sewer improvements %2.75 7,000,000 1,327,358 5,672,642 5,956,685

Total Sewer 7,835,496 1,882,435 5,953,061 6,311,053

$ 43,466,502 $ 22,249,223 $ 21,217,279 $ 24,178,692
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

7 Debenture Debt (Continued)

Future debt principle reductions on existing debt:

General Water Sewer Total

2021 $ 1,313,847 $ 541,907 $ 304,354 $ 2,160,108

2022 1,313,847 541,907 304,354 2,160,108

2023 1,114,760 519,225 304,354 1,938,339

2024 889,874 507,874 259,752 1,657,500

2025 657,492 99,287 259,752 1,016,531

$ 5,289,820 $ 2,210,200 $ 1,432,566 $ 8,932,586

8 Interest on Long Term Debt 

2020 2019

Interest on General Service $ 56,070 $ 82,295

Interest on Recreation Service 619,335 619,335

Interest on Water Service 345,395 373,439

Interest on Sewer Service 217,939 222,772

Interest on Transportation Service 290,032 290,033

$ 1,528,771 $ 1,587,874

9 Deferred Capital Contribution

In agreement in 2010, the City partnered with Shell Canada to build a water reclamation plant. The project was completed
in 2012. The total project cost was $18.3 million. Shell Canada funded $16.6 million of the total project cost in exchange for
3,400cu/m of reclaimed water a day for a period of 10 years. Future amortization reductions are as follows:

Opening
Balance

Annual
Amount

Closing
Balance

2020 $ 4,004,311 $ 1,658,995 $ 2,345,316

2021 2,345,316 1,658,992 686,324

2022 686,324 686,324 -
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

10 Tangible Capital Assets

Net Book
Value

Continuity
Schedule

Opening
Balance

2020
WIP

Reallocation
Additions Net
of Disposals

Annual
Amortization

Net of
Disposals

Ending
Balance

2020

Ending
Balance

2019

Land $ 11,344,125 $ 2,876,864 $ - $ (328,873) $ 13,892,116 $ 11,344,125

Buildings 103,817,902 260,914 59,257 (4,624,997) 99,513,076 103,817,902

Equipment 9,468,625 328,511 108,261 (960,348) 8,945,048 9,468,625

Road 41,470,183 8,380,271 22,212 (2,080,991) 47,791,675 41,470,183

Utility Infrastructure 55,764,495 1,135,680 100,564 (1,214,768) 55,785,971 55,764,495

Work In Progress 7,042,884 (12,982,240) 7,368,210 - 1,428,854 7,042,884

$ 228,908,214 $ - $ 7,658,503 $ (9,209,977) $ 227,356,740 $ 228,908,214

Cost
Continuity
Schedule

Opening
Balance

2020
WIP

Reallocation Additions Disposals

Ending
Balance

2020

Ending
Balance

2019

Land - Cost $ 15,809,132 $ 2,876,864 $ - $ - $ 18,685,996 $ 15,809,132

Building Cost 150,012,781 260,914 59,257 - 150,332,952 150,012,781

Equipment - Cost 22,401,387 328,511 284,533 (176,273) 22,838,158 22,401,387

Road - Cost 84,082,218 8,380,271 22,212 - 92,484,702 84,082,219

Utility Infrastructure - Cost 75,291,327 1,135,680 100,564 - 76,527,571 75,291,327

Work In Progress 7,042,884 (12,982,240) 7,368,210 - 1,428,854 7,042,884

$ 354,639,730 $ - $ 7,834,776 $ (176,273) $ 362,298,233 $ 354,639,730

Amortization
Continuity
Schedule

Opening
Balance

2020 Adjustment
Annual

Amortization Disposals

Ending
Balance

2020

Ending
Balance

2019

land - Accumulated Amortization $ 4,465,007 $ - $ 328,873 $ - $ 4,793,880 $ 4,465,007

Building - Accumulated Amortization 46,194,879 - 4,624,997 - 50,819,876 46,194,879

Equipment - Accumulated Amortization 12,932,762 - 1,136,621 (176,273) 13,893,110 12,932,762

Road - Accumulated Amortization 42,612,036 - 2,080,991 - 44,693,027 42,612,036

Utility Infrastructure - Accumulated Amortization 19,526,831 - 1,214,768 - 20,741,600 19,526,832

$ 125,731,516 $ - $ 9,386,250 $ (176,273) $ 134,941,493 $ 125,731,516

The City of Dawson Creek has a collection of performer signed guitars and memorabilia from past shows and events that
took place at the Encana Events Centre.  This collection has not been recognized in the financial statements, as a value is
not able to be reasonably determined for the collection due to the uniqueness of the collection and market.
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10 Tangible Capital Assets (Continued)

a) Work in Progress

Work in Progress are costs related to projects currently under planning, development or construction,
that will result in a finished asset at a future date. Costs related to planning, development or
construction are capitalized until such time as the property is ready for use. Work in Progress assets are
not amortized until the year after the asset is put into service.

b) Contributed Tangible Capital Assets

Contributed capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution.

c) Write-down of Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the
City's ability to provide goods and services. Any impairment is accounted for as an expense in the
consolidated statement of operations. No impairments were identified or recorded during the year
ended December 31, 2020.

11 Accumulated Surplus

Operating
Fund

Surplus

Capital
Fund

Surplus

Invested in
Tangible

Capital Assets 2020 2019

General Fund $ 11,367,877 $ 10,271,546 $ 125,778,068 $147,417,491 $138,443,679

Water Fund 1,937,618 2,561,497 44,274,378 48,773,493 47,375,067

Sewer Fund 3,229,159 4,532,089 33,741,697 41,502,945 39,620,814

Statutory Reserves - - - 1,088,307 770,722

$ 16,534,654 $ 17,365,132 $ 203,794,143 $238,782,236 $226,210,282

12 Net Municipal Property Taxes

2020 2019

Municipal Property Tax $ 17,457,803 $ 17,597,754
Add: Requisitions collected on behalf of other taxing authorities

Ministry of finance(school taxes) 4,295,300 5,535,949
Peace River Regional District 1,852,987 1,790,943
Peace River Regional Hospital District 1,243,252 1,507,085
British Columbia Assessment Authority 122,966 116,621
Municipal Finance Authority 520 515

Total property taxes collected 24,972,828 26,548,867
Less: Requisitions paid out to other taxing authorities (7,519,165) (8,959,628)

Net Municipal Property Taxes $ 17,453,663 $ 17,589,239
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13 Government Transfers

2020 2019

Unconditional

Small Communities $ 370,633 $ 359,936

Carbon Tax Rebate 111,627 126,626

Peace River Agreement 15,450,310 15,279,041

15,932,570 15,765,603

Conditional

Regional

Economic Development - Grant Writing Support Program 3,806 8,000

Northern Development Initiative Trust 30,569 111,632

Rural Fire Protection 274,000 265,700

South Peace Economic Development - 9,500

Sub Regional Recreation 896,650 590,525

Watershed Steward Cost Sharing 40,000 40,000

Total - Regional 1,245,025 1,025,357

Provincial

Arterial Lighting - Ministry of Transportation 983 956

Lift Station 21,700 10,000

COVID Safe Restart - Provincial 1,396,500 -

Community Works Fund Agreement - Gas Tax 567,965 1,134,664

Flood Mitigation - Provincial 54,434 93,063

New Build Canada Fund - Small Communities Fund 99,218 16,062

ICBC - Road Improvement 10,300 56,100

Clean Water & Waste Water Funds 32,317 240,123

Traffic Fine Revenue Sharing 208,451 172,779

Total - Provincial 2,391,868 1,723,747

Federal

COVID Safe Restart - Federal 1,396,500 -

Airport Capital Assistance Program 282,839 2,552,000

Flood Mitigation - Federal 54,434 93,063

Clean Water & Waste Water Funds 32,318 240,123

New Build Canada Fund - Small Communities Fund 99,218 16,062

Total - Federal 1,865,309 2,901,248

Total - Conditional 5,502,202 5,650,352

$ 21,434,772 $ 21,415,955
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14 Pension Liability

The employer and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The Board of
Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of
assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are
based on a formula. As at December 31, 2019, the plan has about 213,000 active members and approximately 106,000
retired members. Active members include approximately 41,000 contributors from local governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan
funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The
actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry- age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of
member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be
adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded
actuarial liability.  

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2,866 million
funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek paid $1,034,526 (2019 - 1,081,249) for employer contributions to the plan in
fiscal 2020, while employees contributed $864,883 (2019 - $910,182) to the plan in fiscal 2020. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022.  

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the
fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued
assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to

individual employers participating in the plan. 

15 Related Party Transactions

Encana Event Centre

The Relationship

The City of Dawson Creek has related party transactions through a management agreement with Global Spectrum Facility
Management, LP (Global Spectrum).

In 2016 The City of Dawson Creek renewed the management agreement with Global Spectrum to manage and operate the
Encana Event Centre and common areas housed in the South Peace Community Multiplex located at #1 300 Highway 2 in
Dawson Creek.  Global Spectrum acts on behalf of and as an agent for the City.

The management services covered under this agreement include the following:

a) Management and operational services related to events
b) Responsibility for maintenance and operation of all HVAC, electrical and mechanical systems
c) Sale of commercial rights of the Complex
d) Ticketing system for the Complex
e) Food system services for the Complex
f) Exterior security services for the Complex
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15 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

The Relationship (Continued)

Management services not covered under this agreement (excluded services) are as follows:

a) Aquatic Centre operations
b) Agriplex Centre operations
c) Maintenance of parking lots and surrounding grounds

Term

The term of the agreement begins January 1, 2017 and ends December 31, 2027.

Compensation

In exchange for the management services provided by Global Spectrum, the City will pay a fixed management fee as
follows:

2021 2020

$ 197,697 $ 196,323

Beginning with the second operating year, the fixed management fee shall be increased over the fixed management fee
from the previous operating year in accordance with the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index.

In addition, a qualitative management fee of up to 25% of the fixed management fee is payable each year based on
meeting certain qualitative factors. For 2020, this fee totaled $18,049 (2019 - $48,119).

In addition, an incentive fee equal to 20% on an improvement in a benchmark amount is payable to Global Spectrum.  The
benchmark amount shall be equal to a mutually agreed net bottom line number in the 2020 operating budget.  For 2020,
the benchmark was adjusted to $1,649,497 (2019 - $1,650,441) and the resulting incentive fee amount is $42,016 (2019 -
$1,836).

The City of Dawson Creek as the owner of the facility is required to provide funding to the Global Spectrum through an
annual budget allocation.  All revenues and expenditures, profits and losses are the City's responsibility.  Budget allocations
for the Event Centre in 2020 and the next five years are as follows:

2020 $ 1,649,497

2021 $ 1,650,441

2022 $ 1,650,441

2023 $ 1,650,441

2024 $ 1,650,441

2025 $ 1,650,441

Transactions

The assets and liabilities have been consolidated on a line by line basis in the statement of financial position and the
revenues and expenditures have been netted in the statement of financial activities.  These transactions were in the normal
course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and
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15 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

agreed to by the related parties.

Transactions (Continued)

At the end of the year, the amounts due to (from) Global Spectrum are as follows:

2020 2019

Opening Balance, due (from) to $ (59,671) $ (69,910)

Payments made 59,671 69,910

(Income) loss due (to) from the City of Dawson Creek (168,065) (3,343)

Expenses paid on behalf of the City of Dawson Creek (59,671) (56,328)

Closing balance due from GS (227,736) (59,671)

These amounts are non-interest bearing and have no set terms of repayment.

2020 2019

Assets

Cash $ 634,944 $ 681,470

Receivables - trade 299,179 651,554

Prepaid expenses and deposits 4,701 9,899

Deferred event expenses and deposits 4,852 42,480

943,676 1,385,403

Liabilities

Payables 431,587 827,882

Deposits 53,000 53,000

Deferred revenue 231,353 444,850

715,940 1,325,732

Due (from) to Global Spectrum $ (227,736) $ (59,671)

2020 2019

Revenue

Sales $ 1,036,316 $ 4,652,022

Cost of Sales (613,809) (3,554,932)

Gross profit 422,507 1,097,090

Interest 7,477 20,728

429,984 1,117,818

Expenses 1,911,416 2,764,916

Net loss before other items (1,481,432) (1,647,098)

Subsidy from City of Dawson Creek 1,649,497 1,650,441

20



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

15 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

2020 2019

Income due(to) from the City of Dawson Creek (168,065) (3,343)

Dawson Creek Tourism

The Relationship

The City of Dawson Creek has related party transactions through a management agreement with Global Spectrum Facility
Management, LP (Global Spectrum).

In 2017 The City of Dawson Creek entered into a management agreement with Global Spectrum to manage and operate
Dawson Creek Tourism.  Global Spectrum acts on behalf of and as an agent for the City.

The Management services covered under this agreement include the following:

a)  Operations and financial management

b)  Visitor Information Centre

c)  Special projects

d)  Sport tourism

Term

The term of the agreement begins January 1, 2018 and ends December 31, 2022.

Compensation

In exchange for the management services provided by Global Spectrum, the City will pay a fixed management fee as
follows:

2021 2020

$ 26,192 $ 26,010

Beginning with the second operating year, the fixed management fee shall be increased over the fixed management fee
from the previous operating year in accordance with the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index.  

In addition, an incentive fee equal to 20% of the improvement in a benchmark amount is payable to Global Spectrum
beginning in the 2018 budget year.  The benchmark amount shall be equal to a mutually agreed net bottom line number in
the 2020 operating budget. For 2020, the benchmark was adjusted to $444,528 and the resulting incentive fee amount is
$15,826 (2019 - $0). Starting in 2021 the mutually agreed benchmark is reduced to $260,200.
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15 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Compensation (Continued)

The City of Dawson Creek as the owner of the facility is required to provide funding to Global Spectrum through an annual
budget allocation.  All revenues and expenditures, profits and losses are the City's responsibility.  Budget allocations for
Dawson Creek Tourism in 2020 and the next two years are as follows:

2020 $444,528
2021 $260,200
2022 $260,200

Transactions

The assets and liabilities have been consolidated on a line by line basis in the statement of financial position and the
revenues and expenditures have been netted in the statement of financial activities.  These transactions were in the normal
course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and
agreed to by the related parties.

At the end of the year, the amount of Reserve in the City's general fund related to Tourism is as follows:

2020 2019 Restated

 Opening balance        $ 83,105   $ 205,927
Net income        58,636   (122,822)

        $ 141,741   $ 83,105

These amounts are non-interest bearing and have no set terms of repayment.

2020 2019 Restated

Assets
          Cash        $ 126,986   $ 377,503
          Receivables - trade        49,496   119,393
          Inventory             39,570   18,323
          Prepaid expenses and deposits        1,089   15,152

        217,141   530,371

Liabilities
          Payables             75,399   447,266

       75,399   447,266

Partner's Capital
          Capital        $ 141,742   $ 83,105
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15 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Transactions (Continued)

2020 2019 Restated

Revenue
          Sales        $ 32,427   $ 1,111,076
          Cost of sales        (9,296)  (1,033,914)

Gross profit             23,131   77,162
Expenses        393,197   599,570

Net loss before other items        (370,066)  (522,408)
Subsidy from the City of Dawson Creek        444,528   444,528
Other Items               (15,826)  (44,942)

Net (loss) income        $ 58,636   $ (122,822)

A Prior period adjustment has been made to Tourism Dawson Creek Financial Statements to correct an error in the prior
year. As a result, payables have decreased $19,675, expenses have decreased $19,675, and Partner's Capital has increased
$19,675. This error resulted from information that was not known as of the preparation of the financial statements.

16 Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities represent items that, at December 31, 2020, are not recognized in the Statement of Financial Position
because there is significant uncertainty at that date as to the necessity of the entity to make payments in respect of them.
Following are details of the more significant of these contingent liabilities.

115th Avenue Construction Waste Dump Site

Usage of this dumpsite started in the 1960's as a dumpsite for construction waste. There was little or no control over the
types of substances being dumped at the site.  It wasn't until 1992 that the City took measures to ensure that only
uncontaminated wastes were to be deposited at this site.

At this time, the City is unable to determine if there is contaminated waste present at the site. In order to determine the
presence of contaminated waste, an environmental study would be required. Without this study, it is not currently possible
to estimate the cost  to remediate the site.

17 Funds Held in Trust

The Cemetery Care Fund is restricted by legislation as to the principal amount; interest earnings are available for ongoing
maintenance of cemetery grounds as required. These funds are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

2020 2019

Opening Balance $ 302,306 $ 297,115

Additions 4,227 5,191

Interest Earned 3,569 6,544
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17 Funds Held in Trust (Continued)

2020 2019

310,102 308,850

Transfer to Cemetery Operations (3,569) (6,544)

Closing Balance $ 306,533 $ 302,306

18 Budget

The budget information presented in these financial statements is based upon the Original 2020 Financial Plan Bylaw
4440, 2020, approved by Council on April 27, 2020, and adjusted to comply with Canadian public sector accounting
standards for inclusion in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Consolidated Statement of Change in Net
Financial Assets. The original budget was amended in December 2020 by Council to recognize the impact of COVID-19 in
the operating and capital budget.

Revenue            Original      
Budget

   Amended
Budget

   Approved Budget Revenue

         Operating Budget 60,635,004 58,991,409 
         Capital Budget 4,236,609 3,919,005 
         Statutory Revenue and Cemetery Transfers 18,042 18,042 

64,889,655 62,928,456 

PSAB Revenue Adjustment

      Amortization of Deferred Capital Contribution 1,658,992 1,658,992 
      Collection to other Agencies (8,865,713) (7,517,426)
      Interfund transfer elimination (CF) (2,538,944) (2,542,248)

Budget Revenue as Presented in Financial Statement 55,143,990 54,527,774 

Expenditures

    Approved Budgeted Expenditures

        Operating Budget 48,392,338 46,247,131 
        Capital Budget 14,648,537 12,986,075 

63,040,875 59,233,206 

PSAB Expenses Adjustments

       Capital Assets Expenditures (14,648,537) (12,986,075)
       Collection to Other Agencies (8,865,713) (7,517,426)
       Amortization of Capital Assets 9,253,465 9,253,465 
       Debt Services Principal (2,165,376) (2,165,376)

Budget Expenses as presented in Financial Statement 46,614,714 45,817,794 

Annual Surplus 8,529,276 8,709,980 
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19 Line of Credit 

The City has a line of credit agreement with Scotiabank for $20,000,000.  There are no borrowings against the line of credit at
December 31, 2020 and 2019. The line of credit bears interest at 1.0% below (2019 ‐ 1.0% below) the bank's prime lending
rate of 2.45% (2019 ‐ 3.95%).

20 Commitments 

Royal Canadian Mounted Police Services  

The Province of British Columbia and the Federal Government have an agreement with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police
to provide police services for various municipalities in the Province. This agreement has a 20 year term expiring March 31,
2032.

21 Exceptional Item 

On March 11, 2020,  the World Health Organization declared a Global Pandemic  for  the spread of Covid‐19. Management
continues to assess the actual and potential impact this global pandemic may have on the operations of the City of Dawson
Creek.

22 COVID Safe Restart Grant 

In November 2020, the Province of British Columbia paid to the City of Dawson Creek $2.793M a joint federal/provincial
grant to support the City’s fiscal impact by COVID‐19. On November 23, 2020, Council approved that $1.4M of the grant to
offset the 2020 operation revenue shortfalls and the remaining $1.393M to be allocated to a COVID‐19 Relief Reserve to
offset the revenue shortfalls or expenditure increases resulting from the ongoing fiscal impact with COVID. 

Safe Restart Grant received November 2020 2,793,000 

Eligible Costs incurred:
    Revenue Shortfalls ‐ BC Gaming (400,000)
    Revenue Shortfalls ‐ Recreation Facilities (700,000)
    Revenue Shortfalls ‐ Utilities (300,000)

Balance, December 31, 2020 1,393,000 

23  Segmented Information

The  City  has  presented  segmented  financial  information  for  services  it  provides  to  its  citizens,  which  include  Protective,
Transportation, Airport, Environmental Waste, Public Health & Welfare, Environmental Development, Recreation & Culture
and Water and Sewer services. For management reporting purposes, the City's operations and activities are organized and
reported by Service Area. Service Areas were created for the purpose of recording specific activities and related objectives in
accordance with legislated requirements.
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23  Segmented Information (Continued)

General Government

This category of functions is used to report activities that provide for the overall operations of The City, which is common
to, or affect all of the services provided by The City, including Council and legislative, general administration and finance
expenses.

Protective Services

This category of functions is used to report activities that provide for the public safety of the residents and businesses of
the City, including police services provided by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, fire protection services, bylaw
enforcement, building inspection services, safety and animal control.

Transportation

This category of functions is used to report activities related to the delivery of municipal public works services related to
the planning, development and maintenance of the streets and roads, bridges, drainage systems, street lights, traffic lights
and signals, parking lots and on-street parking, and public transit as well as maintenance of workshops, yards and other
buildings.

Airport

This function is used to report activities related to the Dawson Creek Airport, which is owned and operated by the City.

Environmental Waste

This function is used to report activities related to the collection of garbage and other waste material.

Public Health and Welfare

This function is used to report activities related to the cemetery maintenance and operations.

Environmental Development

This function is used to report activities related to the preparation of land use plans, bylaws and policies for sustainable
development of the City and for reviewing and approving new land and building development.

Recreation and Cultural

This function is used to report activities related to providing recreational and cultural opportunities for the community.
Facilities managed within this area include parks, playgrounds, arenas, the Encana Events Centre, Dawson Creek Tourism,
and the Dawson Creek Public Library.

Water

This function reports on activities related to acquiring, supplying, treating and distributing water to the City. 

Sewer

This function reports on activities related to the removal, treatment and disposal of sanitary sewage. 

26



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2020

23  Segmented Information (Continued)

General
Government Protective Transportation Airport

Environmental
Waste

Public Health
and Welfare

Environmental
Development

Recreation
and

Cultural Water Sewer
Reserve
Funds

Capital
Funds

2020
Total

2019
Total

Revenue

Net Municipal Property Tax $ 17,453,663 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 17,453,663 $ 17,589,239

Grant in Lieu 1,384,033 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,384,033 1,017,719

Sale of Service - 884,345 114,606 226,886 940,289 32,975 9,189 525,588 - - - - 2,733,878 3,384,476

Other Revenue 862,448 - 256 - - - 40,034 16,914 - - - 17,949 933,626 1,495,819

Government Transfer 18,668,377 482,451 983 - - - 200,436 896,650 61,700 - - 1,124,175 21,434,772 21,415,955

Return on Investments 241,779 - - - - - - - - - 17,949 256,206 515,934 805,257

Amortization of Deferred Capital
Contribution

- - - - - - - - - - - 1,658,995 1,658,995 1,658,990

Land Sales - - - - - - - - - - - - - 18,300

Utility Fees - - - - - - - - 6,074,872 3,232,218 - 22,000 9,329,090 9,717,077

Gain (loss) on sale of tangible capital
assets

- - - - - - - - - - - 36,599 36,599 47,600

Actuarial Adjustment - - - - - - - - - - - 796,037 796,037 843,006

38,610,300 1,366,796 115,845 226,886 940,289 32,975 249,659 1,439,152 6,136,572 3,232,218 17,949 3,911,961 56,276,627 57,993,438

Expenses

Salaries, Wages & Employee Benefits 2,227,443 4,939,514 1,845,145 329,123 83,077 130,575 156,337 3,000,116 1,213,643 139,003 - - 14,063,976 15,255,427

Travel & Training 42,888 31,753 16,769 1,268 - - 850 17,525 28,797 - - - 139,850 271,847

Advertising 39,307 780 1,617 2,268 304 - 7,094 11,401 - - - - 62,771 60,612

Community Grants & Sponsorships - - 26,010 - - - - 147,452 - - - - 173,462 199,891

Consulting 7,397 9,121 26,904 - - - 410,373 28 105,444 179,206 - - 738,473 673,890

Contracted & General Services 898,616 3,155,457 1,771,412 287,085 893,927 45,505 391,793 1,921,310 310,543 171,684 - - 9,847,332 10,248,743

Material, Good & Supplies 235,687 371,443 437,655 174,450 11,689 15,719 7,647 502,535 429,358 49,009 - - 2,235,192 2,071,744

Repairs & Maintenance 18,106 63,574 52,238 66,575 - - - 214,104 471,737 439,567 - - 1,325,901 1,404,041

Equipment Pool Charge Out 28,656 64,028 979,613 100,617 10,811 3,516 - (103,352) 26,984 26,152 - - 1,137,025 1,240,919

Telephone 39,761 9,149 10,448 14,713 - - - 34,608 13,564 1,494 - - 123,737 142,615

Utilities 46,484 75,228 326,833 66,259 2,485 - - 616,659 297,851 225,428 - - 1,657,227 1,798,572

Insurance 374,173 29,873 33,349 43,677 - - 450 337,437 105,096 42,915 - - 966,970 667,890

Interest on Long Term Debt 56,070 - 290,033 - - - - 619,334 345,395 217,939 - - 1,528,771 1,587,874

Audit & Legal 136,665 - - - - - - - - - - - 136,665 139,435

Amortization 355,958 288,545 2,617,451 164,837 - - 3,869 3,477,824 1,500,512 977,254 - - 9,386,250 8,948,432

Other operating expenses 57,525 14,175 5,269 5,316 - - 55,777 7,420 35,189 400 - - 181,071 122,312

4,564,736 9,052,640 8,440,746 1,256,188 1,002,293 195,315 1,034,190 10,804,401 4,884,113 2,470,051 - - 43,704,673 44,834,244

Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 34,045,564 $ (7,685,844) $ (8,324,901) $ (1,029,302) $ (62,004) $ (162,340) $ (784,531) $ (9,365,249) $ 1,252,459 $ 762,167 $ 17,949 $ 3,911,961 $ 12,571,954 $ 13,159,194

Per statement of operations and surplus totals
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